
 
 

AGENDA  
 
 
Meeting: Strategic Planning Committee 

Place: Council Chamber - County Hall, Trowbridge BA14 8JN 

Date: Wednesday 21 January 2015 

Time: 10.30 am 

 

 

Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Roger Bishton, of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 713035 or email 
roger.bishton@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

 
Briefing Arrangements: 
 

 
Date  

 
Time  

 
Place 

PARTY SPOKESMEN Wednesday  
21 January 

9.30am Council Chamber, 
County Hall 

 

 
Membership: 
 

Cllr Andrew Davis (Chairman) 
Cllr Tony Trotman (Vice Chairman) 
Cllr Glenis Ansell 
Cllr Trevor Carbin 
Cllr Terry Chivers 
Cllr Stewart Dobson 

Cllr Charles Howard 
Cllr David Jenkins 
Cllr Bill Moss 
Cllr Christopher Newbury 
Cllr Fred Westmoreland 

 

 

Substitutes: 
 

Cllr Ernie Clark 
Cllr Brian Dalton 
Cllr Bill Douglas 
Cllr Mary Douglas 
Cllr Dennis Drewett 
Cllr George Jeans 
 

Cllr Paul Oatway 
Cllr James Sheppard 
Cllr Nick Watts 
Cllr Ian West 
Cllr Jerry Wickham 
Cllr Graham Wright 
 

 



 

PART I  

Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public 

 

1   Apologies for Absence  

 To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting. 

 

2   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 20) 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 10 
December 2014. 

 

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee. 

 

4   Chairman's Announcements  

 To receive any announcements through the Chair. 

 

5   Public Participation and Councillors' Questions  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. 
 
Statements 
Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an 
application or any other item on this agenda are asked to register in person no 
later than 10.20am on the day of the meeting. 
 
The Chairman will allow up to 3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against 
an application and up to 3 speakers on any other item on this agenda. Each 
speaker will be given up to 3 minutes and invited to speak immediately prior to 
the item being considered. The rules on public participation in respect of 
planning applications are detailed in the Council’s Planning Code of Good 
Practice. 
 
Questions  
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the 
Council received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in 
particular, questions on non-determined planning applications. Those wishing to 
ask questions are required to give notice of any such questions in writing to the 
officer named on the front of this agenda (acting on behalf of the Corporate 
Director) no later than 5pm on Wednesday 14 January 2015. Please contact 
the officer named on the front of this agenda for further advice. Questions may 



be asked without notice if the Chairman decides that the matter is urgent. 
 
Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior 
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website. 

 

6   14/07526/OUT - Land East of Semington Road, Melksham, SN12 6DP - 
Erection of up to 150 dwellings with access, new village hall and areas of 
open space (Pages 21 - 42) 

 A report by the Case Officer is attached. 

 

7   Date of the Next Meeting  

 To note that the next meeting is scheduled to be held on Wednesday 11 
February 2015 at County Hall, Trowbridge, starting at 10.30am.  

 

PART II  

Item during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be 
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed 

 
None 

 



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
 
 

 
DRAFT MINUTES OF THE STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD 
ON 10 DECEMBER 2014 AT COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNTY HALL, 
TROWBRIDGE BA14 8JN. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Andrew Davis (Chairman), Cllr Tony Trotman (Vice Chairman), Cllr Trevor Carbin, 
Cllr Terry Chivers, Cllr Stewart Dobson, Cllr Charles Howard, Cllr David Jenkins, 
Cllr Bill Moss, Cllr Christopher Newbury and Cllr Fred Westmoreland 
 
Also  Present: 
 
Cllr George Jeans and Cllr Jerry Wickham 
 
  

 
83 Apologies for Absence 

 
An apology for absence was received from Cllr Glenis Ansell. 
 

84 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
Resolved: 
 
To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Committee 
meeting held on 22 October 2014. 
 

85 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest made at the meeting. 
 
 

86 Chairman's Announcements 
 
There were no Chairman’s Announcements. 
 

87 Public Participation and Councillors' Questions 
 
There were no questions received from members of the Council. 
 
Members of the public addressed the Committee as set out in Minute Nos.89 - 
91below.      

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
88 14/04846/OUT - Land South of A365 (Western Way), Bowerhill, Melksham - 

Residential Development of up to 255 Dwellings, 700 sq.m. of Class A1 
Retail Provision and Vehicular Access off Pathfinder Way.  (Outline 
application to determine access) 
 
The Chairman informed the Committee that the application had been withdrawn 
by the applicant. 
 

89 14/06650/OUT - Castle Works, Castle Road, Salisbury, SP1 3SB - Demolish 
existing buildings and development of site with an eco-village of 60 
dwellings, open space amenity areas, new footpaths, parking spaces and 
internal site road 
 
The following people spoke in support of the proposal: 
 
Mr Mark Vaughan, representing the applicant 
Mr James Cleary, the agent 
 
The Committee received a presentation by the Case Officer which set out the 
main issues in respect of the application. He introduced the report which 
recommended that outline planning permission be approved subject to 
conditions and a Section 106 legal agreement. 
 
Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions 
after which the Committee received statements from members of the public as 
detailed above, expressing their views regarding the planning application. 
 
During discussion the following points were raised: 
 

• Concern was expressed that the north east corner of the proposed 
development should not overshadow the site of the castle at Old Sarum.  
The Case Officer reassured the Committee that the revised plans would 
insure that the view of the castle site would not be impeded. 

 

• Members of the Committee considered that there was a need to ensure 
that all soft landscaping should be maintained. 
 

Resolved: 
 
To delegate the Area Development Manager (South) to grant planning 
permission following completion of a Section 106 agreement covering the 
following matters: 
 
(a) A scheme for the relocation of the two main businesses; 
 
(b) Delivery of affordable housing; and 

 

Page 2



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

(c) Financial contributions towards education, public open space, the 
Wessex Stone Curlew Project, and waste and recycling bins. 
 

And subject to the following conditions:- 
 
1) Approval of the details of the Scale, Appearance and Layout of the 

buildings, and Landscaping of the site (hereinafter called 'the 
reserved matters') shall be obtained from the Local Planning 
Authority in writing before any development is commenced. 

 
Reason: This permission is in outline only and is granted under the 
provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
and Article 3(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Development Procedure) Order, 1995 as amended by section 51 (2) of 
the Planning and Compulsory purchase Act  2004. 
 

2) Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in Condition 
1 above, relating to the Scale, Appearance and Layout of the 
buildings, and Landscaping of the site shall be submitted in writing to 
the Local Planning Authority and shall be carried out as approved. 

 
Reason: This permission is in outline only and is granted under the 
provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
and Article 3(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Development Procedure) Order, 1995 as amended by section 51 (2) of 
the Planning  and Compulsory purchase Act  2004. 
 

3) Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the 
Local Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the 
date of this permission. 

 
Reason:This permission is in outline only and is granted under the 
provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
and Article 3(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Development Procedure) Order, 1995 as amended by section 51 ( 2) of 
the Planning  and Compulsory purchase Act  2004. 
 

4) The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission, or before 
the expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the 
reserved matters to be approved.  

 
Reason: This permission is in outline only and is granted under the 
provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
and Article 3(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Development Procedure) Order, 1995 as amended by section 51 ( 2) of 
the Planning  and Compulsory purchase Act  2004. 
 

Page 3



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

5) All soft landscaping comprised in the approved reserved matters 
(landscaping of the site) shall be carried out in the first planting and 
seeding season following the first occupation of the building(s) or the 
completion of the development whichever is the sooner. All hard 
landscaping shall also be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the occupation of any part of the 
development or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the 
development. 
 

6) No development shall commence on site until details of the estate 
roads, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, sewers, 
drains, vehicle overhang margins, visibility splays, accesses, 
carriageway gradients, car parking and street furniture, including the 
timetable for provision of such works, have been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not 
be first occupied until the estate roads, footways, footpaths, verges, 
junctions, street lighting, sewers, drains, vehicle overhang margins, 
visibility splays, accesses, carriageway gradients, car parking and 
street furniture have all been constructed and laid out in accordance 
with the approved details, unless an alternative timetable is agreed in 
the approved details. 

 
REASON: To ensure that the roads are laid out and constructed in a 
satisfactory manner. 
 

7) No development shall commence on site until a scheme for the 
management, maintenance and long term retention of the existing 
tree screen along the northern boundary of the site has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The management and maintenance of the tree screen shall be carried 
out in accordance with the scheme thereby approved. 

 
REASON: To ensure the preservation of a satisfactory landscaped 
setting for the development in the interests of amenity and the 
protection of existing important landscape and heritage features. 

   
8) No development shall commence on site until a written programme of 

phased archaeological investigation, which should include on-site 
work and off-site work such as the analysis, publishing and archiving 
of the results, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved programme of archaeological 
work shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To enable the recording of any matters of archaeological 
interest. 

 

Page 4



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

9) Before development commences the applicant shall commission the 
services of a competent contaminated land consultant to carry out a 
detailed contaminated land investigation of the site and the results 
provided to the Local Planning Authority. The investigation must 
include: 

 

• A full desktop survey of historic land use data; 

• A conceptual model of the site identifying all potential and actual 
contaminants, receptors and pathways (pollution linkages); 

• A risk assessment of the actual and potential pollution linkages 
identified; 

• A remediation programme for contaminants identified. The 
remediation programme shall incorporate a validation protocol 
for the remediation work implemented, confirming whether the 
site is suitable for use. 

The remediation programme shall be fully implemented and the 
validation report shall be forwarded to the Local Planning Authority 
prior to habitation of the development. 
 
Reason: In the interests of public health and safety. 
 

10) Development shall not begin until a surface water drainage scheme 
for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an 
assessment of the hydrological and hydrogeological context of the 
development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The scheme shall subsequently be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details before the 
development is completed. The scheme should also include details of 
how the scheme shall be maintained after completion and to make 
adequate provision for potential overland flows. 

 
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and 
protect water quality and ensure future maintenance of the surface 
water drainage system. 
 

11) No development approved by this permission shall be commenced 
until a Construction Environmental Management Plan, incorporating 
pollution prevention measures, has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall 
subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details and agreed timetable. 

 
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment 
 

12) No development shall commence on site until details of bat roost and 
bird nesting features, to be built into the design of new buildings, 
have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority. Details shall include the number, design and locations of 

Page 5



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

bat roost and bird nesting features, which shall be provided in 
accordance with a timetable to be agreed by the local planning 
authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of protected species and biodiversity 
 

13) No development shall commence on site until a scheme for water 
efficiency has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance 
with the agreed details before the first occupation of the 
development. 

 
Reason: In the interests of sustainable development and prudent use 
of natural resources. 
 

14) No development shall commence on site until a scheme to mitigate 
the noise associated with the Salisbury RFC clubhouse has been 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The agreed scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the first occupation of the development 
hereby permitted, unless an alternative timetable is agreed in the 
approved details. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the existing recreation and proposed 
residential uses are compatible. 
 

15) No development shall commence until details of acoustic fencing to 
the north-eastern boundary of the site (adjacent to the Salisbury RFC 
clubhouse) has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The fencing shall be erected in accordance with 
the approved details prior to the first occupation of the development 
hereby permitted, unless an alternative timetable is agreed in the 
approved details, and shall be retained and maintained as such at all 
times thereafter. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the existing recreation and proposed 
residential uses are compatible. 
 

16) No demolition or construction works shall take place outside the 
hours of 0730 to 1800 Mondays to Fridays and 0800 to 1300 on 
Saturdays or at any time on Sundays & Banks Holidays. 
 

Reason: In the interests of neighbouring amenity. 
 

INFORMATIVES: 
  
Water efficiency condition 

Page 6



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

The development should include water efficient systems and fittings. 
These should include dual-flush toilets, water butts, water-saving taps, 
showers and baths, and appliances with the highest water efficiency 
rating (as a minimum). Grey water recycling and rainwater harvesting 
should be considered. Any submitted scheme should include detailed 
information (capacities, consumption rates etc) on proposed water saving 
measures. Manufacturer’s specifications should not be submitted. 
Applicants are advised to refer to the following for further guidance: 
http://www.environment-
agency.gov.uk/homeandleisure/drought/31755.aspx 
http://www.savewatersavemoney.co.uk/ 
 
Nesting birds 
The adults, young, nests and eggs of all species of birds are protected by 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) while they are 
breeding. The applicant is advised to check any structure or vegetation 
capable of supporting breeding birds and delay altering or removing such 
features until after young birds have fledged. 
 
Site Waste Management 
In England, it is a legal requirement to have a site waste management plan 
(SWMP) for all new construction projects worth more than £300,000. The 
level of detail that a SWMP should contain depends on the estimated build 
cost, excluding VAT. The duty of care for waste must also be complied 
with. Because all waste movements need to be recorded in one document, 
having a SWMP will help to ensure compliance with the duty of care. This 
can be incorporated into the Construction Environmental Management 
Plan (CEMP). Further information can be found at http://www.netregs-
swmp.co.uk 
 
Pollution Prevention During Construction 
Safeguards should be implemented during the construction phase to 
minimise the risks of pollution and detrimental effects to the water 
interests in and around the site. Such safeguards should cover the use of 
plant and machinery, oils/chemicals and materials; the use and routing of 
heavy plant and vehicles; the location and form of work and storage areas 
and compounds and the control and removal of spoil and wastes. The 
Environment Agency’s Pollution Prevention Guidelines should be referred 
to, which can be found at: 
http://www.environment-
agency.gov.uk/business/topics/pollution/39083.aspx. 
Pollution prevention measures should be included within the CEMP. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

90 14/06624/FUL - Land adjacent to Quarryfields Industrial Estate, Mere, 
BA12 6LA - Erect New Factory incorporating Storage Areas, Offices, 
Brush Museum, Areas used for Goods In and Goods Out and the 
formation of Vehicular and Pedestrian Access thereto 
 
The Committee received a presentation by the Area Development Manager 
(South) which set out the main issues in respect of the application. He 
introduced the report which recommended that planning permission be 
approved subject to conditions. He referred to late representations which had 
been received from the Wiltshire Council Archaeologist who recommended that 
further trenched evaluation of the site was not necessary. 
 
Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions 
after which the Committee received a statement from Cllr L Traves, expressing 
the views of Mere Parish Council regarding the planning application which were 
in support of the application. 
 
On hearing the views of Cllr George Jeans, the local Member, in support of the 
application and after discussion, 
 
Resolved: 
 
To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions – 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

2 Notwithstanding the details set out in the application 
particulars, no development shall commence on site until 
details and samples of the materials to be used for the external 
walls and roofs have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
REASON:   In the interests of visual amenity and the character 
and appearance of the area. 

3 No development shall commence on site until a scheme of 
hard and soft landscaping has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the details of which 
shall include:- 
a) location and current canopy spread of all existing trees and 
hedgerows on the land; 
b) full details of any to be retained, together with measures for 
their protection in the course of development; 
c) a detailed planting specification showing all plant species, 

Page 8



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

supply and planting sizes and planting densities;  
d) finished levels and contours;  
e) means of enclosure;  
f) car park layouts;  
g) other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas;  
h) all hard and soft surfacing materials;  
i) minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, refuse and 
other storage units, signs, lighting etc);  
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the 
development and the protection of existing important 
landscape features. 

4 All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of 
landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and 
seeding season following the first occupation of the building(s) 
or the completion of the development whichever is the sooner;  
All shrubs, trees and hedge planting shall be maintained free 
from weeds and shall be protected from damage by vermin and 
stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years, 
die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of a 
similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the local planning authority.  All hard landscaping shall also be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the 
occupation of any part of the development or in accordance 
with a programme to be agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. 
REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the 
development and the protection of existing important 
landscape features. 

5 No part of the development hereby permitted shall be first 
brought into use until the access, turning area and parking 
spaces have been completed in accordance with the details 
shown on the approved plans. The areas shall be maintained 
for those purposes at all times thereafter. 
REASON:  In the interests of highway safety. 

6 No development shall commence on site until a Green Travel 
Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The Travel Plan shall include details 
of implementation and monitoring and shall be implemented in 
accordance with these agreed details. The results of the 
implementation and monitoring shall be made available to the 
Local Planning Authority on request, together with any 
changes to the plan arising from those results. 
REASON:  In the interests of road safety and reducing 
vehicular traffic to the development.   

Page 9



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

7 Notwithstanding the details set out in the application 
particulars, no external lighting shall be installed on site until 
plans showing the type of light appliance, the height and 
position of fitting, illumination levels and light spillage spillage 
in accordance with the appropriate Environmental Zone 
standards set out by the Institute of Lighting Engineers in their 
publication "Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive 
Light" (ILE, 2005)", have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved lighting 
shall be installed and shall be maintained in accordance with 
the approved details and no additional external lighting shall 
be installed.  
REASON: In the interests of the amenities of the area and to 
minimise unnecessary light spillage above and outside the 
development site. 

8 No materials, goods, plants, machinery, equipment, finished or 
unfinished products/parts of any description, skips, crates, 
containers, waste or any other item whatsoever shall be 
placed, stacked, deposited or stored above a height of 10 
metres above the existing ground level outside any building on 
the site without the prior approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority.  
REASON:  In the interests of the appearance of the site and the 
amenities of the area. 

9 Development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with 
the "Enhancement and Mitigation Options" set out in the 
Provisional Ecological Appraisal by SLR Global Environmental 
Solutions dated March 2013. 
REASON:  In the interests of wildlife protection and 
enhancement. 

10 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following approved plans: 
21410/HA/01B dated 08/2013 and received by lpa 09/07/2014 
21410/HA/2A dated 08/2013 and received by lpa 09/07/2014 
21410/CS/1 dated 07/2013 and received by lpa 09/07/2014 
21410/CS/2 dated 07/2013 and received by lpa 09/07/2014 
07256-1G dated 04/07/2014 and received by lpa 09/07/2014 
07256-2Z dated 04/07/2014 and received by lpa 09/07/2014 
07256-3Z dated 01/07/2014 and received by lpa 09/07/2014 
07256-4Z dated 01/07/2014 and received by lpa 09/07/2014 
07256-5Z dated 01/07/2014 and received by lpa 09/07/2014 
 
REASON:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of 
proper planning. 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:  The consent hereby granted 

Page 10



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

shall not be construed as authority to carry out works on the 
highway.  The applicant is advised that a license may be 
required from Wiltshire's Highway Authority before any works 
are carried out on any footway, footpath, carriageway, verge or 
other land forming part of the highway. 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:  Please note that Council 
offices do not have the facility to receive material samples. 
Please deliver material samples to site and inform the Planning 
Officer where they are to be found. 

  

91 14/06780/OUT - Land at The Hill Brush Co Ltd, Woodlands Road, Mere, 
BA12 6BS - Demolition of Existing Factory and Dwelling known as Maltot. 
Erection of 134 Dwellings with Supporting Infrastructure. ( Hybrid full and 
outline application) 
 
  The following people spoke against the proposal: 
 
Mrs I McCullum, a local resident 
Mr LR Stanton, a local resident 
Mr Branscombe 
 
The Committee received a presentation by the Area Development Manager 
(South) which set out the main issues in respect of the application. He 
introduced the report which recommended that planning permission be 
approved subject to conditions and a Section 106 legal agreement.  He referred 
to the late representations which had been received which were: 
 

• A response from Wiltshire Council Environmental Services in relation to 
Public Open Space.  An objection had been raised until Public Open 
Space provision levels as set out in their response had been agreed by 
means of a Section 106 agreement. 

 

• A response from Wiltshire Council Leisure Services recommending that 
Section 106 contributions in respect of leisure services be spent on 
upgrading the sports hall and changing accommodation or on a local 
indoor leisure facilities project in the vicinity of the development.  

 
Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions 
after which the Committee received statements from members of the public as 
detailed above, expressing their views regarding the planning application. 
 
The Committee then heard the views of Cllr George Jeans, the local Member, 
who, whilst supporting the application, expressed concern regarding highway 
issues and the use of Woodlands Lane, a single carriageway, by vehicles to 
and from the site.  He suggested that a sign be erected at the exit to the site 

Page 11



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

directing traffic to the Shaftesbury Road and away from Woodlands Road.  The 
Committee noted that Mere Parish Council has also expressed these concerns.     
 
During discussion the following points were raised: 
 

• There as a need to ensure that there was adequate open space, refuse 
bins and also sufficient leisure facilities in the area. 

 

• The Section 106 Agreement should include provision for adequate primary 
school places.  With regard to secondary school places, it was noted that 
students were educated a a secondary school in Gillingham, Dorset and 
Dorset Education Authority had so far not responded to this Council’s 
consultation.  
 

Resolved: 
 
To delegate the Area Development Manager (South) to grant planning 
permission following completion of a Section 106 agreement covering the 
following matters: 
 

• A requirement for the new factory planning permission to be 
completed prior to implementation of the housing planning 
permission; 

• A requirement for a minimum of 10% of the houses to be 
‘affordable’; 

• A requirement for a financial contribution to be made towards the 
cost of additional education provision made necessary by the 
housing development; 

• In the event of a surplus being available after the final calculation of 
the education contribution, a requirement for a financial 
contribution to be made towards the local ‘footpath improvement 
project’ or other local infrastructure made necessary by the 
development; 

• In the event of a surplus being available after the final calculation of 
the education contribution, a requirement for a financial 
contribution to be made towards waste collection containers. 
 

And subject to the following planning conditions – 
 
1 Phase 1 (the 'full' element) of the development hereby 

permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON:  To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

Page 12



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

2 Phase 2 (the 'outline' element) of the development hereby 
permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of five 
years from the date of this permission, or before the 
expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of 
the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later. 
REASON:  To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

3 No development in Phase 2 (the 'outline' element) shall 
commence on site until details of the following matters (in 
respect of which approval is expressly reserved) have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority:  
(a) The scale of the development; 
(b) The layout of the development; 
(c) The external appearance of the development; 
(d) The landscaping of the site; 
(e) The means of access to the site. 
 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 
REASON:  The application was made for outline planning 
permission and is granted to comply with the provisions of 
Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Article 3(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Development Procedure) Order 1995. 

4 An application for the approval of all of the reserved matters 
shall be made to the Local Planning Authority before the 
expiration of five years from the date of this permission. 
REASON:  To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  

5 Notwithstanding the details set out in the application 
particulars, no development shall commence on site within 
any particular phase until details and samples of the materials 
to be used for the external walls and roofs within the 
particular phase have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
REASON:  In the interests of visual amenity and the character 
and appearance of the area. 

6 No development shall commence on site in any particular 
phase until details of the design, external appearance and 
decorative finish of all railings, fences, gates, walls, bollards 
and other means of enclosure within that particular phase 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Page 13



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Planning Authority.  Development of the particular phase 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the development being first occupied or in 
accordance with a programme to be first agreed in writing 
with the local planning authority.   
REASON:  In the interests of visual amenity and the character 
and appearance of the area. 

7 No development shall commence on site in any particular 
phase until a scheme of hard and soft landscaping for that 
particular phase has been first submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, the details of which 
shall include :- 
a) location and current canopy spread of all existing trees and 
hedgerows on the land; 
b) full details of any to be retained, together with measures 
for their protection in the course of development; 
c) a detailed planting specification showing all plant species, 
supply and planting sizes and planting densities;  
d) finished levels and contours;  
e) means of enclosure;  
f) car park layouts;  
g) other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas;  
h) all hard and soft surfacing materials;  
i) minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play 
equipment, refuse and other storage units, signs, lighting 
etc);  
 
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the 
development and the protection of existing important 
landscape features. 

8 All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of 
landscaping for any particular phase of the development shall 
be carried out in the first planting and seeding season 
following the first occupation of the building(s) or the 
completion of the development within the particular phase 
whichever is the sooner;  All shrubs, trees and hedge planting 
shall be maintained free from weeds and shall be protected 
from damage by vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which, 
within a period of five years, die, are removed, or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next 
planting season with others of a similar size and species, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority.  All hard landscaping within a particular phase shall 
also be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the occupation of any part of the development within 
the phase or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 14



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the 
development and the protection of existing important 
landscape features. 

9 The roads, including footpaths and turning spaces, shall be 
constructed so as to ensure that, before it is occupied, each 
dwelling has been provided with a properly consolidated and 
surfaced footpath and carriageway to at least base course 
level between the dwelling and existing highway. 
REASON:  To ensure that the development is served by an 
adequate means of access. 

10 No dwelling shall be occupied until the parking space(s) 
together with the access thereto, have been provided in 
accordance with the approved plans. 
REASON:  In the interests of highway safety and the amenity 
of future occupants. 

11 No development shall commence on site until details of the 
stopping up of all accesses proposed to be stopped up, both 
pedestrian and vehicular, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
details shall include a programme for the timing of the 
stopping up of the accesses.  The stopping up of the 
accesses shall take place in accordance with the approved 
details.  On completion of the development, the means of 
vehicular and pedestrian access to the development shall be 
as shown on the plans hereby approved. 
REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 

12 Prior to first occupation of any dwelling hereby approved the 
developer shall implement the 'Welcome Pack' initiative set 
out in the Framework Residential Travel Plan dated April 
2014.  Following implementation of the initiative each and 
every first owner/occupier of any dwelling on the 
development shall receive from the developer the Welcome 
Pack. 
REASON:  In the interests of road safety and reducing 
vehicular traffic to the development.  

13 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as 
amended by the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (Amendment) (No.2) (England) Order 
2008 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or amending that 
Order with or without modification), the garage(s) hereby 
permitted shall not be converted to habitable accommodation. 
REASON:  To secure the retention of adequate parking 
provision, in the interests of highway safety. 

Page 15



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

14 Foul and surface water from the development shall be 
disposed of strictly in accordance with the schemes of 
disposal set out in the Flood Risk Assessment dated May 
2014 accompanying the planning application. 
REASON:  To ensure satisfactory disposal of foul and surface 
water in accordance with the agreed scheme. 

15 No development approved by this permission shall 
commence until a scheme for water efficiency has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance 
with the agreed details.   
REASON:  In the interests of sustainable development and 
climate change adaptation. 

16 No development approved by this planning permission other 
than demolition works shall take place until a scheme that 
includes the following components to deal with the risks 
associated with contamination of the site has been submitted 
to and approved, in writing, by the local planning authority: 
1) A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 
a. all previous uses 
b. potential contaminants associated with those uses 
c. a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, 
pathways and receptors 
d. potentially unacceptable risks arising from 
contamination at the site. 
 
2) A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide 
information for a detailed assessment of the risk to all 
receptors that may be affected, including those off site. 
3) The results of the site investigation and detailed risk 
assessment referred to in (2) and, based on these, an options 
appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the 
remediation measures required and how they are to be 
undertaken.  
4) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be 
collected in order to demonstrate that the works set out in the 
remediation strategy in (3) are complete and identifying any 
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. 
Any changes to these components require the express 
written consent of the local planning authority. The scheme 
shall be implemented as approved. 
REASON:  To protect controlled waters from pollution. 

17 If, during development, contamination not previously 
identified is found to be present at the site then no further 
development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 

Page 16



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

local planning authority) shall be carried out until the 
developer has submitted a remediation strategy to the local 
planning authority detailing how this unsuspected 
contamination shall be dealt with and obtained written 
approval from the local planning authority. The remediation 
strategy shall be implemented as approved. 
REASON:  To protect controlled waters from pollution. 

18 The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance 
with the 'measures' set out in the Ecological Mitigation Plan 
dated May 2014 accompanying the planning application. 
REASON:  To ensure wildlife interests are safeguarded. 

19 Prior to commencement of the approved dwellings 
immediately adjacent to Shaftesbury Road and the Beaumont 
Business Centre, a scheme or schemes indicating how these 
dwellings will be insulated against noise disturbance from 
traffic using the road or industrial activities in the business 
centre shall be submitted to the local planning authority for 
approval in writing. The dwellings shall be constructed in 
accordance with the approved scheme(s) and the insulation 
measures shall be retained thereafter. 
REASON:  To safeguard the future amenities of the occupiers 
of these dwellings.  

20 Prior to commencement of development the developer shall 
submit a Construction Management Plan for approval in 
writing by the local planning authority.  This shall specify the 
hours of working (in particular, the hours during which 
potentially noisy equipment or machinery will be used), site 
traffic management plans (including routing plans for 
employee/contractor vehicles and delivery vehicles, areas on 
site for employee/contractor parking, and areas on site for 
loading/unloading of collection/delivery vehicles), and 
environmental controls (including locations of storage of 
fuels, etc.).  The development shall be carried out strictly in 
accordance with the approved Construction Management 
Plan throughout the development phases. 
REASON:  In the interests of amenity.   

21 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved plans listed in the attached 
schedule. 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of 
proper planning. 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:  
The applicant should note that under the terms of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 and Countryside and Rights of Way 

Page 17



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Act 2000, it is an offence to disturb nesting birds, roosting 
bats and other protected species.  You should note that the 
work hereby granted consent does not override the statutory 
protection afforded to these species and you are advised to 
seek expert advice if you suspect that the demolition would 
disturb any protected species. For further advice, please 
contact the district ecologist at Wiltshire Council. 
 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:  
The applicant will be aware of the badgers sett on the site and 
the possibility of further setts in the vicinity of the site, and as 
a consequence compliance with certain requirements and 
provisions of the Badgers Act 1991 may be necessary. If this 
is the case the applicant is advised to contact Natural 
England who are responsible for issuing licences relating to 
development on the site of badger setts. 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:  
The consent hereby granted shall not be construed as 
authority to carry out works on the highway.  The applicant is 
advised that a license may be required from Wiltshire's 
Highway Authority before any works are carried out on any 
footway, footpath, carriageway, verge or other land forming 
part of the highway. 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:   
Please note that Council offices do not have the facility to 
receive material samples. Please deliver material samples to 
site and inform the Planning Officer where they are to be 
found. 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:  
This permission shall be read in conjunction with an 
Agreement made under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act, 1990 and dated the [INSERT]. 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:  
The developer is advised to discuss the contaminated land 
issues relevant to the site and what works, if any, are required 
in order to comply with the relevant conditions attached to 
this approval. The developer should contact Peter Nobes at 
Wiltshire Council. 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT: 
In designing the layout for Phase 2 the applicant is requested 
to take particular care with dwelling designs and sitings on 
that part of the site adjacent to The Bartletts to ensure the 
privacy and amenities of the occupiers of The Bartletts are 
safeguarded.  

Page 18



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT: 
The development should include water efficient systems and 
fittings. These should include dual-flush toilets, water butts, 
water-saving taps, showers and baths, and appliances with 
the highest water efficiency rating (as a minimum). Greywater 
recycling and rainwater harvesting should be considered.  
An appropriate submitted scheme to discharge condition no. 
16 will include a water usage calculator showing how the 
development will not exceed a total (internal and external) 
usage level of 105 litres per person per day. 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT: 
Safeguards should be implemented during the construction 
phase to minimise the risks of pollution from the 
development. Such safeguards should cover:  
- the use of plant and machinery 
- oils/chemicals and materials 
- the use and routing of heavy plant and vehicles 
- the location and form of work and storage areas and 
compounds 
- the control and removal of spoil and wastes. 
 
The applicant should refer to the Environment Agency's 
Pollution Prevention Guidelines at:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/pollution-
prevention-guidance-ppg 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT: 
There are ordinary watercourses within or in close proximity 
to the site. If it is intended to obstruct the flow in the 
watercourse (permanently or temporarily, including 
culverting), or construct a surface water outfall, you may 
require prior Land Drainage Consent from Wiltshire Council 
as the Lead Local Flood Authority. You are advised to contact 
the Drainage Team to discuss their requirements:- 
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/communityandliving/civilemergen
cies/drainage/drainageordinarywatercourseconsent.htp 
There must be no interruption to the existing surface water 
and land drainage arrangements of the surrounding land as a 
result of the operations on the site. Provisions must be made 
to ensure that all existing drainage systems continue to 
operate effectively and that riparian owners upstream and 
downstream of the site are not adversely affected. 
 
 
INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT: 
Subject to all necessary consents being first obtained and on 
completion of Phase 1, the applicant is requested to display a 
sign within the site close to its vehicular exit advising 

Page 19



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

motorists to turn right when leaving the site so as to avoid the 
narrow lanes to the south of the site.  The detailed design and 
wording of the sign should be agreed with the local planning 
authority.   
 

92 Date of the Next Meeting 
 
Resolved: 
 
To note that the next meeting was due to be held on Wednesday 21 
January 2015 at County Hall, Trowbridge, starting at 10.30am.  
 

93 Urgent Items 
 
There were no items of urgent business. 
 

 
(Duration of meeting:  10.30 am - 1.20 pm) 

 
 
 

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Roger Bishton, of Democratic & 
Members’ Services, direct line 01225 713035, e-mail roger.bishton@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 
Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115 

 

Page 20



REPORT TO THE STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Date of Meeting 21 January 2015 

Application Number 14/07526/OUT 

Site Address Land East of Semington Road, Melksham, SN12 6DP 

Proposal Erection of up to 150 dwellings with access, new village hall and 
areas of open space 

Applicant Mark Chard & Associates 

Parish Council MELKSHAM WITHOUT 

Division MELKSHAM WITHOUT SOUTH 

Grid Ref 390177  162643 

Type of application Full Planning 

Case Officer  Eileen Medlin 

 

Reason for the application being considered by Committee  

The application is considered to be of strategic importance for Melksham 

 

1. Purpose of Report 

The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the planning proposal and recommend 
that planning permission be refused. 
 

2. Report Summary  

 
The main issues to consider are:    

- Principle of the development 

- Visual impact on the surrounding area 

- Access  

- Proximity to sewage treatment works 

- Provision of a village hall 

 

3. Site Description  

The application site is a greenfield site, comprising three irregular shaped agricultural fields 
defined by hedgerows, located approximately 200m south of the Town Policy Limits of 
Melksham as set out in the West Wiltshire District Plan and carried forward in the emerging 
Core Strategy.  The Western Way/A350 defines the southern boundary of Melksham as it 
currently exists. A residential area comprising approximately 50 mobile homes is located 
between Western Way and the site. The remaining northern and eastern boundaries of the 
site are bounded by fields which separate the site from Western Way.  

The Bowerhill Sewerage Treatment Works are located to the south of the site and the site is 
located within the sewage treatment works buffer zone identified in the West Wiltshire 
District Plan and carried forward into the emerging Core Strategy. Berryfield Brook runs 
along the southern boundary of the site.  

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



The southwest corner of the site is adjacent the village policy limits of the village of Berryfield 
as identified in the West Wiltshire District Plan. As a small village the emerging Core 
Strategy will remove defined Village Policy Limits from Berryfield.  

Semington Road lies to the west of the site and the western boundary of the site is 
separated from Semington Road by a ribbon of residential development along the eastern 
side of Semington Road.  

The principle access to the site is located to the north of the existing Highcroft Farmhouse 
with a secondary emergency access located to the south of 489 Semington Road.  

The former route of the Wilts and Berks Canal also runs through the site from north to south. 

Environment Agency mapping identifies the site as being entirely within Flood Zone 1. 
However, the Flood Risk Assessment submitted with the application advises that a 
proportion of the site adjacent Berryfield Brook would be categorised as Flood Zone 2.  

 

4. Planning History 

The application was subject to a pre application submission and the submission of a formal 
planning application was not encouraged at the time. It was advised that the most 
appropriate route for pursing development in a plan-led system would be via the Council’s 
site allocation work or neighbourhood planning rather than a planning application.  

The current application was not the subject of a formal EIA screening request. However, 
upon receipt the application was considered against the relevant criteria and it was 
concluded that this is not EIA development and no environmental statement was required 
with the planning application. 

A screening opinion was sought in August 2012 for a larger scheme of 350 residential units 
and it was concluded that a scheme of the scale proposed would constitute EIA 
development.  

The site is identified in the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment as site ref: 648 

 

5. The Proposal 

The proposal is for outline planning permission for up to 150 dwellings and a village hall on 
the land to the east of Semington Road. Only access is to be considered at this stage with all 
other matters reserved for future determination.  

The access is located to the north of the existing Highcroft farmhouse and an indicative 
layout has been provided showing approximately 150 dwellings located around a network of 
internal estate roads. The southernmost part of the site is given over to attenuation ponds 
and landscaping. A village hall is shown in the south west of the site. 

The number of units has been revised since the submission of the application mainly to 
address comments made by Wiltshire Council Ecologist. The access has also been altered 
to allow for the retention of the farmhouse and a number of Willow trees as the presence of 
bats has been confirmed in these locations.  

 

6. Planning Policy 

Development Plan context 

It is anticipated that the Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS) will be adopted at the special council 
meeting on January 20th 2015. At that time the WCS will be afforded ‘Full Weight’ in planning 
terms. In the interim, in the light of its imminent adoption, and following publication of the 

Page 22



Inspector’s Report in December 2014, it is the Council’s policy that for the purposes of 
decision making “very significant weight” must be accorded to the Emerging Core Strategy. 

At the time of writing this report, the situation is that: 

a. Adopted development plan – The West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 is 
the adopted development plan covering the area in which the development site is 
located. The development plan also includes the West Wiltshire Leisure and 
Recreation DPD and the Swindon and Wiltshire Waste and Minerals Core Strategies 
and their subservient DPDs.  

b. Emerging development plan – The emerging Wiltshire Core Strategy 2014 will 
supersede a number of the policies in the West Wiltshire District Plan.  

c. Neighbourhood Planning - There is a Melksham Town and Melksham Without 
parish neighbourhood plan area – this includes Berryfield. The neighbourhood area 
has been officially designated and has an established steering group but it is at a 
very early stage of preparation. There is no draft plan at this stage and therefore little 
weight can be afforded to the neighbourhood plan. 

National Planning Policy context 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was introduced as a principal material 
consideration in the determination of planning applications in March 2012. It introduces the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development at paragraph 14 as a ‘golden thread’ 
running through plan making and decision taking.  

The NPPF is clear in stating that ‘planning law requires that applications for planning 
permission must be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise’. The NPPF does not change the statutory status of the 
development plan as the starting point for decision making. Proposed development that 
accords with an up-to-date Local Plan should be approved and proposed development that 
conflicts should be refused unless other material considerations indicate otherwise.  

Paragraph 17 of the NPPF sets out the core planning principles and paragraphs 18-219 
constitute what sustainable development means in practice. The sections of the NPPF that 
are considered relevant to this pre-application, as well as paragraphs 14 and 17, are: 

• Building a strong, competitive economy 

• Ensuring the vitality of town centres 

• Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 

• Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) has been prepared by to assist with interpretation of 
the policies contained within the NPPF 

 

7. Consultations 

Melksham Without Parish Council – Support. The parish council originally objected to the 
application but withdrew this objection following correspondence and additional information 
provided by the applicant. The Parish Council responded positively to the revised scheme. 
The response advises that the council welcome the provision of a village hall and a play area 
and identified this site as suitable for residential in their review of the SHLAA sites.  

Wiltshire Council Spatial Planning Team – Object as the proposal is contrary to Policies 
H1 and H19 of the adopted West Wiltshire District Plan and Core Policy 1 and Core Policy 2 
of the emerging Wiltshire Core Strategy. The response sets out the status of the 
development plan and confirms that the council can demonstrate a five year housing land 
supply for the Housing Market Area. 

Page 23



Wiltshire Council Urban Design Officer – Object as the proposal will double the size of 
Berryfield and the visual effects of the scheme will extend beyond the site boundaries having 
a negative impact on the character and appearance of the area. The layout of the scheme is 
unsatisfactory and overwhelmed by urban style terraced housing. Much of the open space is 
functional rather than useful and the village hall would be better sited in a more prominent 
position near the entrance to the site. (However, it should be remembered that the 
application is in outline format this stage) 

Wiltshire Council Landscape Officer – Object. The application does not comply with the 
requirements of Core Policy 51 as the application falls short in its assessment of landscape 
and visual effects. 

Wiltshire Council Highways Officer – No objection subject to securing the implementation 
of a residential travel plan through a Section 106 legal agreement and conditions to ensure 
adequate access to the site, provision of a dropped kerb with tactile paving and the provision 
of two bus shelters along Semington Road. Access is considered to be satisfactory and the 
development would not put unacceptable pressure on the surrounding transport network. 

Wiltshire Council Environmental Health Officer – No objection. Advised that a 
precautionary condition be put in place regarding contamination. Satisfied following 
correspondence with Wessex Water and the applicant’s specialist on odour that a residential 
development in this location would be acceptable in terms of odour and proximity to the 
treatment works.  

Wiltshire Council Ecology Officer – No objection following amendments and subject to 
conditions. Amendments were sought to retain natural features on site, to retain the existing 
farmhouse and the provision of ecological enhancements.  

Wiltshire Council County Archaeologist – No objection subject to conditions. The historic 
line of the Wilts and Berks canal is considered a heritage asset and requires further 
mitigation which can be secured through condition.  

Wiltshire Council Environmental Services Team - no objection subject to  

1. The Open Space and Play provision accords with Planning Policy LP4 

2. The Open Space and Play is secured in perpetuity. 

3. A financial contribution is secured for the expansion of Melksham Cemetery 

Wiltshire Council New Housing Team – No objections. The response sets out policy 
requirements for affordable housing and provides an indication of likely affordable housing 
requirements.  

Wiltshire Council School Places Team – No objection subject to financial contributions 
towards school places.   

Wiltshire Council Drainage Team – No objection subject to conditions 

Wiltshire Council Arts Service – No objection subject to financial contribution to secure 
public art in the development and liaison with the service to discuss how this might be 
achieved. 

Wiltshire Council Waste Core Strategy – No objection following the provision of a Waste 
Audit  

Wiltshire Council Library Operations manager – No objection subject to a financial 
contribution towards enhancing Melksham library’s book stock 

Royal Society for Protection of Birds – No objection. A LEMP should be provided at the 
next stage of the planning process. Pleased to see more trees and hedges retained in the 
revised layout. Recommend that bird boxes are incorporated into the development.  

Page 24



Environment Agency – No objection subject to conditions relating to surface water 
drainage and contamination. 

Natural England – No objection. Standing advice provided. 

Wiltshire Police Comments – No objection – hope that development will aspire to secure 
by design status 

NHS England – No objection subject to a financial contribution towards health practices in 
Melksham 

Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service – No objection. The applicants attention is brought to 
the requirements identified under B5 of Approved Document B relating to The Building 
Regulations 2010 and recommendations to improve safety and reduce property loss in the 
event of fire  

Wessex Water – No objection subject to development respecting easements and 
contributing to upgrading the capacity of Wessex Waters infrastructure to meet the demands 
of the development. Satisfied that the odour assessment carried out by the applicants 
adequately demonstrates satisfactory living conditions for residents of the proposed 
development. 

Wiltshire Wildlife Trust – No comment 

Wiltshire Museum – Object as their museums do not have the capacity to store finds and 
archaeological archives that are created during an assessment, watching brief or excavation, 
as their stores are full. 

 

8. Publicity 

The application was advertised by letter, site notices and by press advertisement. 

16 neighbours responded objecting on the following summarised grounds: 

• Loss of agricultural land 

• Pressure on infrastructure such as schools and health services 

• Double Berryfield turning it into a suburb of Melksham rather than a separate village.  

• High Density low cost housing giving rise to noise and disturbance 

• Additional traffic on Semington Road 

• Noise 

• Loss of privacy 

• Loss of light 

• Access on a bend 

• No pavement on this side of Semington Road 

• Not part of the development plan 

• Wildlife such as deer, adders, squirrels and bats observed in application site 

• Access will conflict with the planned access for the canal 

• Other available sites are more suitable including brownfield sites 

• The site location between busy roads and sewage treatment works is not suitable for 
residential development 

• The parish council identifies another site as their preferred site 

Page 25



• A village hall is included within the Melksham Link planning application in a more 
suitable location. 

• Displacement of wildlife 

• Development superfluous to housing requirements 

• Disproportionate increase to village 

• Completeness of habitat survey 

• Influx of housing will turn Melksham into a commuter town for Swindon, Bath and 
Bristol. 

• No decision yet on canal application submitted over two years ago which had the 
support of the local community 

• Council must decide on one scheme over another. Both cannot be accommodated. 

• Disregards sewage treatment works buffer zone 

• Footpath should be provided 

• Noise and disturbance from village hall the existing properties 

• Parking from village hall likely to spill onto Semington Road 

• Number of units proposed would result in a cramped form of development 

• The application should not be decided until a sensible review of housing provision in 
Melksham in undertaken along with infrastructure needs 

• 50 houses maximum would be more appropriate 

• Too close to the houses on the eastern side of Semington Road 

• Development will be economically beneficial for the area 

• Change character of the village 

• Lack of drainage 

• Development should cut back or remove trees from the northern boundary of the site. 

 

9. Planning Considerations 

9.1 The Development Plan 

Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and section 38(6) of the Planning 
and Compulsory Act 2004 require that the determination of planning applications must be 
made in accordance with the Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.  

The Development Plan for Wiltshire Council is currently in a period of transition as the 
Wiltshire Core Strategy approaches adoption. At the time of writing the emerging Wiltshire 
Core Strategy can be given very significant weight as the Planning Inspector examining the 
Core Strategy has submitted his final report to the council and has found the Core Strategy 
to be sound, opening the way for the council to proceed towards adoption. The adoption of 
the Core Strategy is scheduled to be discussed at the Council meeting scheduled for the 20th 
January 2015.  

The policies in the adopted West Wiltshire District Plan are still relevant until the adoption of 
the Core Strategy but very significant weight can be given to those in the emerging Core 
Strategy at its current advanced stage. A number of detailed policies within the West 

Page 26



Wiltshire District Plan will not be superseded by the Core Strategy and will continue to be 
relevant following adoption.  

The Development Plan also consists of the Wiltshire and Swindon Minerals and Waste Core 
Strategies and subservient DPDs and proposals map and the Leisure and Recreation DPD 
2009. 

NPPF paragraph 49 identifies that relevant policies for the supply of housing, should not be 
considered up to date if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of 
housing. The latest assessment of housing land supply in Wiltshire demonstrates that a 
sufficient land supply exists for the North and West Housing Market Area (HMA). The 
Wiltshire Core Strategy Examining Inspector’s report also confirms a five year housing land 
supply. Therefore paragraph 49 of the NPPF is not engaged and development plan policies 
are considered to be up to date.  

9.2 Principle of the development 

Core Policies 1: Settlement Strategy, 2: Delivery Strategy and 3: Infrastructure 
Requirements, of the emerging Wiltshire Core Strategy set out how the Core Strategy will 
deliver the spatial strategy for Wiltshire.  

9.2.1 Core Policy 1: Settlement Strategy 

Core Policy 1 sets out the settlement strategy for Wiltshire identifying four tiers of settlement 
namely:  

• Principal Settlements  

• Market Towns  

• Local Service Centres  

• Large and Small Villages.  

The settlement boundaries of the Principal Settlements, Market Towns, Local Service 
Centres and Large Villages, as defined by former District Local Plans, are carried forward 
into the Core Strategy and retained. These settlement boundaries will be reviewed as part of 
the Wiltshire Housing Site Allocations DPD and the Chippenham Site Allocations DPD, as 
set out in the Council’s Local Development Scheme, in order to ensure they are up to date 
and can adequately reflect changes which have happened since they were first established. 
It will also be the prerogative of the community to review settlement boundaries through a 
neighbourhood plan. This approach is supported by the Core Strategy Examining Inspector. 

Melksham is identified as a Market Town within the Settlement Strategy and Market Towns 
are defined as settlements that have the ability to support sustainable patterns of living in 
Wiltshire through their current levels of facilities, services and employment opportunities.  

Market Towns have the potential for significant development that will increase the jobs and 
homes in each town in order to help sustain and where necessary enhance their services 
and facilities and promote better levels of self containment and viable sustainable 
communities. 

Berryfield is identified as a small village and the emerging Wiltshire Core Strategy will 
remove the village policy limits for small villages. Core Policy 1 defines small Villages as 
having a low level of services and facilities, and few employment opportunities.  

It advises that development at Large and Small Villages will be limited to that needed to help 
meet the housing needs of settlements and to improve employment opportunities, services 
and facilities.  

 

 

Page 27



9.2.2 Core Policy 2: Delivery Strategy 

Core Policy 2 sets out the delivery strategy. The Core Strategy advises that a number of 
sources of supply have been identified for new housing in Wiltshire including through future 
Site Allocations DPDs and neighbourhood plans.  

An indicative requirement of 2370 has been identified for the Melksham community area. 
The target is expressed as a 20 year target covering the period from 2006 to 2026. The most 
recent Housing Land Supply Statement July 2014 identifies a requirement for a further 600 
dwellings over the plan period.  

Core Policy 2 advises that within the limits of development, as defined on the policies map, 
there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development at the Principal Settlements, 
Market Towns, Local Service Centres and Large Villages. For sites outside the defined limits 
of development such as this application site, the Core Strategy advises that other than in 
circumstances as permitted by other policies within this Plan, identified in paragraph 4.25, 
development will not be permitted outside the limits of development, as defined on the 
policies map. The limits of development may only be altered through the identification of 
sites for development through subsequent Site Allocations Development Plan Documents 
and neighbourhood plans.  

It further advises that at the Small Villages development will be limited to infill within the 
existing built area and only where they meet a number of further criteria set out in the policy.  

Whilst the settlement strategy set out in Core Policy 1 supports significant development of 
Melksham as a Market Town, Core Policy 2 seeks to achieve this in a planned and managed 
way through the identification of sites in a Site Allocations DPD or Neighbourhood Plan. 
Therefore as the application site falls outside the identified limits of development for 
Melksham, the proposal is contrary to Core Policy 2 which advises that residential 
development at market towns should be within the identified limits of development unless 
brought forward through a Site Allocations DPD, a neighbourhood plan or one of the 
exception policies.  The purpose of this policy in this case is to ensure that the housing 
required in Melksham is delivered in a plan-led way that identifies the most sustainable sites 
for development.  

The size of the site and siting and scale of the proposal would suggest that it is intended to 
meet the housing needs of Melksham rather than those of the village of Berryfield. In any 
event, the proposal falls outside the built up area of Berryfield and would also be contrary to 
that part of Core Strategy Policy 2 pertaining to development at the small villages. 

Neither does the proposal comply with any of the exception policies which allow for 
development outside of settlement boundaries.  

It is also necessary to consider whether there are any other material considerations that 
should be taken into account in considering the principle of development on this site at this 
time. One of these is the question of five year housing supply. If the council cannot 
demonstrate a five year housing land supply, the NPPF advises that planning policies for 
housing should not be considered up to date, and planning permission should be granted 
unless ‘adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole’. Currently, the 
council considers that it has a five year land supply for the housing market area within which 
the site sits. This has been endorsed by the findings of the Core Strategy Inspector. The 
provision of the NPPF therefore does not engage and the in principle objection to the 
scheme is maintained.  

In addition the application proposes the erection of a new village hall for Berryfield. This 
would replace the existing temporary village hall which is located on land safeguarded for 
the reinstatement of the Wilts and Berks Canal.  

Page 28



Whilst this is undoubtedly a benefit of the proposal and the provision of a new community 
facility would be supported by the NPPF, the emerging Wiltshire Core Strategy and the West 
Wiltshire District Plan, it is considered that the provision of a village hall would not outweigh 
the principle objections to the scheme. 

Core Policy 2 and the exceptions policies will supersede Policy H1: Further Housing 
Development within Towns, Policy H17: Village Policy Limits and the exception policies 
contained with the West Wiltshire District Plan. The site is outside the settlement boundaries 
identified for Melksham and Berryfield, and as such the proposed development would also 
be contrary to policy H1 and H17 which require new development to be within the existing 
settlement boundaries.  

9.2.3 Core Policy 3: Infrastructure Requirements 

Core Policy 3 advises that ‘All new development will be required to provide for the necessary 
on-site and, where appropriate, off-site infrastructure requirements arising from the proposal. 
Infrastructure requirements will be delivered directly by the developer and/or through an 
appropriate financial contribution prior to, or in conjunction with, new development. In 
ensuring the timely delivery of infrastructure, development proposals must demonstrate that 
full regard has been paid to the council's Infrastructure Delivery Plan and Schedule and all 
other relevant policies of this plan. Joint working with adjoining authorities will be 
encouraged to ensure that wider strategic infrastructure requirements are appropriately 
addressed’.  

The scale of this development does not give rise to new infrastructure requirements but it 
would put pressure on existing infrastructure.  

Relevant infrastructure providers have been consulted on the application and financial 
contributions and conditions have been requested to mitigate the impacts of development. 
The figures requested have been agreed by the applicant and are set out in the table below: 

Infrastructure Mitigation required 

Sustainable transport 
measures 

Implementation of the residential travel plan including green travel 
vouchers of £250/£150, information packs for each household, 
appointment of a travel plan co-ordinator for 5 years, monitoring, 
targets and £7500 for travel plan monitoring (£1500 pa). 

Sustainable transport 
measures 

Prior to first occupation of any dwelling on the southern half of the 
red-lined site  a lowered kerb, tactiled pedestrian crossing point 
shall have been provided opposite the emergency access to 
Semington Road in accordance with details to be first submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

Sustainable transport 
measures 

Prior to occupation of the 20th dwelling two sets of cantilever type 
bus shelters with perch seat, and high access kerbs shall have 
been provided  in accordance with details to be first submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. One set at the 
existing bus stop layby northbound on Semington Road, and one 
set adjacent to number 491B Semington Road (southbound 
buses). 

Leisure and Recreation 
Provision 

Environmental Services have requested the following financial 
contributions towards indoor recreation facilities 

Pools    £38,901 

Halls    £44,577 

Indoor Bowls   £5,597 

Page 29



Artificial Turf Pitches  £5.557 

Leisure and Recreation 
Provision 

Environmental Services have requested that the onsite Open 
Space and Play Areas should be secured in perpetuity. 

Cemetery Provision Environmental services have requested a financial contribution of 
£3,750 towards cemetery provision in the area 

Education The school places team has requested a contribution of £670,720 
to fund 40 primary places and £534,532 to fund 28 secondary 
places arising from the development. 

Archaeology The County Archaeologist has suggested a condition to ensure 
the significance of the historic line of the Wilts and Berks Canal is 
enhanced by the proposed development and that provision is 
made for the recording and storage of archaeological remains.  

Libraries A contribution £8,500 is sought to enhance the existing book 
stock at Melksham Library 

Health NHS England has requested a capital payment of £76,087 based 
on 150 houses in order to support the development of local 
practice’s premises. 

Utilities Wessex Water has advised that a contribution will be required 
from the developer which can be included in Section 41 (Water 
Industry Act) arrangements. 

Community Safety Wiltshire Police anticipate that the development would aspire to 
achieve Secure by Design status. 

Flooding Sustainable drainage systems and ongoing management of area 
set aside for balancing ponds.  

Public Art Wiltshire Council Arts Service have requested an indicative 
contribution figure (based on £300 per dwelling) of £45,000 for 
150 dwellings and would expect that no more than 10% of this 
figure would be spent upon the production of a public art plan. 

Village Hall Erection of a new village hall 

 

Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 states that planning 
obligations must be: 

a) Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

b) Directly related to the development; 

c) Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  

It is considered that the planning obligations sought meet these three tests.  

The PPG specifically mentions Public Art as a type of contribution which is not necessary to 
make a development acceptable. However, in the specific circumstances of this case a 
public art contribution could be used to enhance the significance of the historic line of the 
Wilts and Berks canal is considered justified in this instance.  

With regards to the proposed village hall it is considered that this would be a piece of 
community infrastructure. There is an existing village hall in Berryfield but this only has 
temporary permission as it is sited on a route safeguarded for the Melksham Link project.  

Page 30



As mentioned previously the development is seen as an extension to Melksham but would 
also adjoins the village of Berryfield. The scale of the development would effectively double 
the size of Berryfield which is a small village with limited facilities. The applicant is of the 
view that the provision of a village hall would contribute to community cohesion and link the 
new development with the existing settlement of Berryfield. The provision would extend to 
donating 0.1 ha of land and funding construction up to £250,000.  

The merits of other aspects of the scheme are discussed under the relevant headings in the 
report. 

 

9.2.4 Melksham Area Strategy 

The Area strategy for Melksham is contained within Core Policy 15: Melksham Community 
Area and Core Policy 16: Melksham Link Project. Core policy 16 is mainly concerned with 
the safeguarding of land for the Wilts and Berks Canal.  

In relation to Core Policy 15, the Core Strategy Inspector supports the Council’s analysis of 
the hierarchy of settlements. He notes that the Core Strategy would enable the emerging 
Wiltshire Site Allocations DPD and neighbourhood planning process to facilitate the 
provision of the required level of housing. He states that in the short term, ‘there appears to 
be sufficient commitments to ensure an adequate supply of housing land for the town’, whilst 
acknowledging ‘that there is a notable degree of uncertainty for the latter part of the plan 
period’. However, he goes on to say that ‘the Council acknowledged...the scope for a Sites 
DPD to assist in delivering such housing, which….seems to be the most pragmatic and 
efficient way of complementing the neighbourhood planning process to ensure the provision 
of sufficient housing to meet identified needs in a timely fashion...by such means it will be 
feasible to deliver the housing numbers shown within modified Core Policy 15 as necessary’. 
He concludes that ‘overall...the CS does take a justified approach towards the Melksham 
Community Area and will be effective in terms of delivery’. 

Thus the situation is that whilst the Core Strategy will direct more growth towards Melksham, 
there is currently no proposed allocation that selects the proposal site and there is a clear 
mechanism in the Strategy to deliver the housing growth required through the Site 
Allocations DPD and neighbourhood plan. 

The supporting text to this policy refers to the functional relationship between the villages of 
Bowerhill and Berryfield with the Town of Melksham but points out that these villages have 
strong individual characteristics which should be maintained.  

The effect of the development of the characteristics of Melksham and Berryfield is discussed 
under Core Policy 51: Landscape 

 

9.3 Addressing Climate Change 

Core Policy 41 of the emerging Wiltshire Core Strategy identifies how sustainable 
construction and low-carbon energy will be integral to all new development in Wiltshire. In 
doing so this policy sets the framework for meeting a number of national and local priorities 
(for example Part L of the current Building Regulations) that seek to achieve sustainable 
development and conserve natural resources. This policy will help to reduce Wiltshire’s 
contribution to climate change through improved design and construction methods. 

The applicants will be required to demonstrate compliance with this policy at reserved 
matters stage.  

This policy will supersede Policy C34a: Resource Consumption and Reduction, in the west 
Wiltshire District Plan 

 

Page 31



9.4 Providing everyone with access to a decent affordable home 

Core Policy 43 sets out when affordable housing provision will be required and indicates the 
proportions which will be sought from open market housing development. In line with this 
policy a 30% affordable housing contribution at nil subsidy is sought for this site within the 
Melksham Community Area which reflects up-to-date viability and housing needs evidence. 
The applicant has agreed to provide the required level of affordable housing. A tenure split of 
80% affordable rent and 20% shared ownership would also be required. The location and 
mix of units is not for consideration now and would be determined under a reserved matters 
application. However, the consultation response from housing sets out their indicative 
requirements advising that further discussion should be had prior to the submission of the 
relevant reserved matters application. 

Core Policy 43 will supersede Policy H2 of the West Wiltshire District Plan which also 
requires 30% affordable housing at nil subsidy on this site.  

Core Policy 45 provides the basis for considering dwelling type, density and mix of housing 
to be built. These matters would be considered under a reserved matter application. 

Core Policy 46 requires developers to demonstrate how their proposals respond to the 
needs of an ageing population. The supporting text refers to the role of Lifetime Home 
standards in meeting this aim. Again this would be considered under a reserved matters 
application.  

 

9.5 Protecting and enhancing the natural historic and built environment 

9.5.1 Core Policy 50: Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

Core Policy 50 advises that development proposals must demonstrate how they protect 
features of nature conservation and geological value as part of the design rationale. An 
extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey prepared by Chalkhill Environmental was submitted with 
this application and reviewed by the council’s ecologist. Further reports and surveys were 
requested as well as alterations to the site layout to ensure further retention of the existing 
hedgerows. These changes to the layout and reports and surveys were duly prepared by the 
applicant. At this point it was noted that the existing farmhouse which was due to be 
demolished had not been adequately surveyed for bats and that the optimum time of year for 
undertaking this survey is the summer months. To overcome this objection the applicant has 
moved the access to allow for the retention of the farmhouse and the willow trees. As a 
result of these changes the application is considered to be in accordance with Core Policy 
50 subject to conditions. 

Mitigation and enhancement has also been provided to the satisfaction of the council’s 
ecologist and in accordance with Core Policy 50. 

This policy supersedes aspects of a number of policies in the West Wiltshire District Plan 
including C1: countryside Protection, C6: Areas of high ecological value, C6a: Landscape 
Features, C9: Rivers, C10: Local Nature Reserves. 

9.5.2 Core Policy 51: Landscape 

Core Policy 51 seeks to protect, conserve and enhance Wiltshire’s distinctive landscape 
character. The term ‘landscape’ in this policy is used to refer to both the built, historic and 
natural environment in urban and rural areas. 

The policy advises that proposals will need to demonstrate that the following aspects of 
landscape character have been conserved and where possible enhanced through sensitive 
design, landscape mitigation and enhancement measures:  

i. The locally distinctive pattern and species composition of natural features such as trees, 
hedgerows, woodland, field boundaries, watercourses and waterbodies  

Page 32



ii. The locally distinctive character of settlements and their landscape settings  

iii. The separate identity of settlements and the transition between man-made and natural 
landscapes at the urban fringe  

iv. Visually sensitive skylines, soils, geological and topographical features  

v. Landscape features of cultural, historic and heritage value  

vi. Important views and visual amenity  

vii. Tranquillity and the need to protect against intrusion from light pollution, noise, and 
motion  

viii. Landscape functions including places to live, work, relax and recreate, and  

ix. Special qualities of Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs) and the New Forest 
National Park, where great weight will be afforded to conserving and enhancing landscapes 
and scenic beauty.  

The site is in agricultural use within the open countryside and the proposed development 
would result in a change effect from rural to urban. However this is likely to be true of any of 
the sites coming forward for housing delivery in Melksham in the future and does not in itself 
result in an in principle objection to the scheme. The site is not in a sensitive landscape 
location and does not have any landscape designations. The indicative layout shows the 
retention of many of the natural features on site as well as landscape features of historic and 
heritage value such as the historic route of the Wilts and Berks canal.  

However it is considered that the proposal does not meet with the third criterion of the policy 
which refers to the separate identity of settlements and the transition between man-made 
and natural landscapes at the urban fringe. The separate identity of settlements is also 
referred to Core Policy 15: Spatial Strategy for Melksham Community Area.  

The Landscape and Design Team have advised that the application falls short in its 
consideration of landscape and visual effects and advised that an appraisal of landscape 
and visual effects would be required to fully assess the visual impacts.  

The proposed development would physically link the separate settlements of Melksham and 
Berryfield effectively making Berryfield a suburb of Melksham rather than a small village as it 
is currently identified in the settlement strategy. Housing in Melksham to the north of the 
A350 is visible from the site and it is likely that the proposed housing would be visible from 
within the current policy limits of Melksham. Semington Road which is the main route 
between the town of Melksham and Berryfield currently consists of loose knit ribbon 
development in relatively shallow plots along its eastern boundary. Views of the application 
site are readily visible from the road giving Semington Road a rural character. The 
development of the site will remove this rural buffer between the settlements of Melksham 
and Berryfield. Therefore the character of Semington Road will be completely altered as 
layers of development will be clearly visible and the footprint of the village would be almost 
doubled.  The visual effects of the scheme would extend significantly beyond the boundaries 
of the site and have an impact on the character of the locality.   

The application documentation submitted does not refer to the coalescence of Melksham 
and Berryfield or set out how the site layout contributes to maintaining the separate identity 
of the settlements. In later correspondence the applicant refers to the role of the village hall 
in providing a cohesive link between the existing and new development. 

Given the above it is considered that the proposed development would have a negative 
impact on the landscape as it results in the coalescence of Melksham and Berryfield and 
fails to preserve the important individual characteristics of these settlements contrary to Core 
Policy 15 and Core Policy 51 of the emerging Core Strategy. Whether this impact should be 
accepted if the site turns out to be one of the most sustainable choices for helping meet the 
needs of Melksham is a matter that should be properly addressed through the DPD. 

Page 33



This policy supersedes aspects of policies C1: Countryside Protection, and C9: Rivers in the 
West Wiltshire District Plan. 

9.5.3 Core Policy 52: Green infrastructure 

Core Policy 52 seeks to retain and enhance Wiltshire’s Green Infrastructure Network. The 
indicative layout shows that open space and play space would be provided on site in line 
with the open space standards currently in operation for this part of Wiltshire and as such the 
application is considered to be in accordance with this policy.  

The application documentation also indicates provision for the ongoing management of the 
open spaces and a management plan can be secured through a s106 agreement.  

This policy supersedes policies C1: Countryside Protection, C9: Rivers, C10: Local Nature 
Reserves, H1: Further Housing within Towns, of the West Wiltshire District Plan. 

9.5.4 Core Policy 53: Wiltshire’s Canals 

This policy refers to treatment of the historic line of old canals and the Melksham Link project 
in addition to existing canals.  

The supporting text to the policy advises that the historic alignment of the Wilts and Berks 
canal through Melksham is no longer suitable for reinstatement as a canal, and an 
alternative route has been identified (see Core Policy 16: Melksham Link Project). However, 
the historic line through Melksham can still be followed, and the council will support its 
identification and historical significance by signage where appropriate. Other parts of the 
original line of the Wilts and Berks Canal also have potential for interpretation, particularly 
the junction with the Kennet and Avon Canal at Semington, and the council will support the 
development of a footpath network based on a restored canal towpath linking with other 
appropriate rights of way where the canal has been lost under development. 

The policy advises that proposals will be permitted that are designed to develop the canal’s 
recreational and nature conservation potential, in particular, the use of the old line of the 
canal for walking, cycling and interpretation. 

This policy compliments the views expressed by the County Archaeologist and the 
enhancement of the setting and appreciation of the canal line can be secured by condition.   

This policy replaces policy WR3: Wilts and Berks Canal in the West Wiltshire Leisure and 
Recreation DPD.  

9.5.5 Core Policy 56: Contamination 

Policy 56 requires development proposals which are likely to be on or adjacent to land which 
may have been subject to contamination to demonstrate that measures can be taken to 
effectively mitigate the impacts of land contamination on public health, environmental quality, 
the built environment and amenity. 

As the site is currently in agricultural use land contamination is unlikely but there may be 
some due to the infilled canal and as such a precautionary condition is proposed. 

This policy supersedes Policy C37: contaminated Land in the West Wiltshire District Plan 

9.6 Core Policy 57: Ensuring High Quality Design and Place Shaping 

This policy addresses the design of new developments.  

Whilst the detailed design is reserved for future consideration observations are made on the 
positive and negative impacts of the indicative layout provided.   

Policy 57 states that a high standard of design is required in all new developments, including 
extensions, alterations, and changes of use of existing buildings. Development is expected 
to create a strong sense of place through drawing on the local context and being 
complimentary to the locality. The policy set out that applications for new development must 

Page 34



be accompanied by appropriate information to demonstrate how the proposal will make a 
positive contribution to the character of Wiltshire through meeting the criteria set out in the 
policy. The indicative layout is assessed against these criteria below: 

i. Enhancing local distinctiveness by responding to the value of the natural and historic 
environment, relating positively to its landscape setting and the existing pattern of 
development and responding to local topography by ensuring that important views into, 
within and out of the site are to be retained and enhanced  

The development of the application site would remove a rural buffer that separates the 
settlements of Melksham and Berryfield and would double the size of Berryfield. It is 
considered that these effects of the scheme would be contrary to the above requirements.  

ii. The retention and enhancement of existing important landscaping and natural features, 
(for example trees, hedges, banks and watercourses), in order to take opportunities to 
enhance biodiversity, create wildlife and recreational corridors, effectively integrate the 
development into its setting and to justify and mitigate against any losses that may occur 
through the development  

Natural features on the site such as hegderows and watercourses are to be retained and 
biodiversity enhancements are included to the satisfaction of the council’s ecologist. 

iii. Responding positively to the existing townscape and landscape features in terms of 
building layouts, built form, height, mass, scale, building line, plot size, elevational design, 
materials streetscape and rooflines to effectively integrate the building into its setting  

Only an indicative layout has been provided but this shows the use of terraces and car 
parking courts to achieve the number of units proposed. It is considered that the 
predominance of urban terraces is not in keeping with the semi rural nature of the site.  

iv. Being sympathetic to and conserving historic buildings and historic landscapes  

The site layout preserves the historic line of the Wilts and Berks Canal.  

v. The maximisation of opportunities for sustainable construction techniques, use of 
renewable energy sources and ensuring buildings and spaces are orientated to gain 
maximum benefit from sunlight and passive solar energy, in accordance with Core Policy 41  

There is no evidence to suggest that the building have been orientated to maximise benefit 
from sunlight or passive solar gain, but this is a detailed matter.  

vi. Making efficient use of land whilst taking account of the characteristics of the site and the 
local context to deliver an appropriate development which relates effectively to the 
immediate setting and to the wider character of the area  

This is a matter to be resolved at any reserved matters stage. 

vii. Having regard to the compatibility of adjoining buildings and uses, the impact on the 
amenities of existing occupants, and ensuring that appropriate levels of amenity are 
achievable within the development itself, including the consideration of privacy, 
overshadowing; vibration; and pollution (such as light intrusion, noise, smoke, fumes, 
effluent, waste or litter)  

The Bowerhill Sewage Treatment works adjoin the site to the south. An odour assessment 
has been carried out to the satisfaction of the council. This aspect of the development is 
considered further under Policy U5: Sewage Treatment Works Buffer Zone. 

A noise assessment was also submitted in support of the application and found that noise 
from the surrounding road network would not have an unacceptable impact on the scheme. 

The impact from a detailed layout on existing properties would be examined at the reserved 
matters stage.  

Page 35



viii. Incorporating measures to reduce any actual or perceived opportunities for crime or 
antisocial behaviour on the site and in the surrounding area through the creation of visually 
attractive frontages that have windows and doors located to assist in the informal 
surveillance of public and shared areas by occupants of the site  

The Design and Access statement advises that the development would seek to achieve 
Secure by Design Status. 

ix. Ensuring that the public realm, including new roads and other rights of way, are designed 
to create places of character which are legible, safe and accessible; in accordance with Core 
Policy 66 – Strategic Transport Network  

Some of the open spaces provided on site are functional and are there to respect easements 
rather than to create a sense of place. It is considered that the siting of important building 
such as the village hall and play space could be better located to provide improved legibility 
and sense of place. 

x. The sensitive design of advertisements and signage, which are appropriate and 
sympathetic to their local setting by means of scale, design, lighting and materials  

No signage proposed at this point. 

xi. Taking account of the needs of potential occupants, through planning for diversity and 
adaptability, and considering how buildings and space will be used in the immediate and 
long term future  

The use of standards such as Building for Life and Lifetime Homes would be welcomed in 
the design of the proposed houses. 

xii. The use of high standards of building materials, finishes and landscaping, including the 
provision of street furniture and the integration of art and design in the public realm  

This is indicated in the Design and Access Statement but can be controlled as part of a 
reserved matters application. 

xiii. In the case of major developments, ensuring they are accompanied by a detailed design 
statement and master plan, which is based on an analysis of the local context and 
assessment of constraints and opportunities of the site and is informed by a development 
concept, including clearly stated design principles, which will underpin the character of the 
new place.  

A Design and Access statement was included with the application 

Overall it is considered that whilst there are some concerns, details could be dealt with 
through a reserved matters application and it is the principle that needs to be addressed at 
this stage. This policy supersedes policies C30 Skylines, C31a: Design, C32: Landscaping, 
C35: Light Pollution, C38: Nuisance, H1: Further Housing Development within Towns and 
H24; New Housing Design of the West Wiltshire District Plan. 

9.7 To ensure that essential infrastructure is in place to support our communities 

9.7.1 Core Policy 60, 61, 62, 64: Transport 

Core Policy advises that the council will use its planning and transport powers to help reduce 
the need to travel particularly by private car, and support and encourage the sustainable, 
safe and efficient movement of people and goods within and through Wiltshire. 

Notwithstanding that the site is located outside the existing Town Policy Limits officers 
recognise that the site is on the edge of Melksham and is reasonably sustainable with a 
frequent bus service past the site. Pedestrian links to the town centre are good with a formal 
crossing of the A350 in place for pedestrians and cyclists. There are acceptable walking 
routes to the local schools. National cycle route 403 passes the site entrance.  

Page 36



Core Policy 61: Transport and New Development, advises that new development should be 
located and designed to reduce the need to travel particularly by private car, and to 
encourage the use of sustainable transport alternatives. This policy also sets out the areas 
to be addressed in a required Transport Assessment, the requirement for safe access to the 
highway, contributions towards sustainable transport improvements and the use of travel 
plans. 

A transport assessment was submitted with the application and officers are content that it is 
a robust assessment. The access to the site was altered during the course of the application 
and officers are satisfied that the proposed access would meet the requirement for safe 
access to the highway.  

Sustainable transport improvements include new bus shelters on Semington Road. A 
resident travel plan is included as part of the application including green travel vouchers and 
an information for each household to encourage the use of sustainable means of transport. 

Core Policy 62: Development Impacts on the Transport Network, advises that developments 
should provide appropriate mitigating measures to offset any adverse impacts on the 
transport network at both the construction and operational stages.  

The Transport Assessment submitted with the application demonstrates that the 
development would not have a significant impact on the surrounding transport network.  

Core Policy 64: Demand Management, refers to residential car parking standards. As this is 
an outline application, the council cannot assess this aspect of the scheme at this time and 
is reserved for future consideration.  

Overall officers consider that the proposal meets with the relevant transport policies and no 
objections are raised in this respect subject to conditions and planning obligations.  

These policies replace Policies T9: Bus Services, T10: Car Parking, T11, Cycleways and 
T12: Footpaths and Bridleways of the West Wiltshire District Plan. 

9.7.2 Core Policy 67: Flood Risk 

This policy advises that development proposed in Flood Zones 2 and 3 as identified within 
the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment will need to refer to the Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment when providing evidence to the local planning authority in order to 
apply the Sequential Test in line with the requirements of national policy and established 
best practice.  

All new development will include measures to reduce the rate of rainwater run-off and 
improve rainwater infiltration to soil and ground (sustainable urban drainage) unless site or 
environmental conditions make these measures unsuitable. 

The application was accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment which identified that the 
majority of the site was in Flood Zone 1 with the southern edge of the site at risk from 
flooding from the watercourse running along the southern boundary of the site. The 
indicative site layout shows the area identified as at risk from flooding would be given over to 
landscaping and sustainable drainage measures which are compatible uses in areas at risk 
of flooding.  

The Environment Agency raised no object to the development and were pleased to see a 
corridor set aside for balancing ponds, the detailed design of which can be dealt with during 
the reserved matters application. 

Wiltshire Council Drainage officers also commented on the application and raised no 
objection subject to conditions and informatives. Officers advised that further modelling of 
Berryfield Brook should be undertaken before Reserved Matters applications are submitted.  

It is considered that the proposal would meet the requirements of Core Policy 67 subject to 
conditions and further details to be addressed at Reserved Matters stage.  

Page 37



This policy replaces Policy U2 of the West Wiltshire District Plan.  

9.8 Sewage Treatment Works Buffer Zone 

The application site is located with the sewage treatment works zone identified for the 
Bowerhill Sewage Treatment Works. Policy U5 of the West Wiltshire District Plan advises 
that proposals for housing or other development which is sensitive to odour pollution would 
not be permitted within the sewage treatment works buffer zone, as defined on the proposals 
map, where the proposed development cannot reasonably co-exist with a sewage works. 
This policy will not be superseded by the Core Strategy and remains in effect post adoption.  

The policy does not place a blanket ban on housing development within the buffer zone but 
places an onus on the developer to demonstrate that a proposed development within a 
buffer zone can reasonably co exist with the existing sewage treatment works.  

To demonstrate this the applicant prepared an Odour Assessment in consultation with 
Wessex water who operate the Bowerhill Sewage Treatment Works. This was examined by 
Wessex Water and the Council’s Environmental Health Team who were satisfied that the 
assessment adequately demonstrated that the odours coming from the existing works would 
have an acceptable impact on the residential amenities of adjoining occupiers. 

Therefore no objection is raised to the proposal in this regard.  

10. Conclusion 

The proposal conflicts with the Development Plan for the area and would have an adverse 
impact on the landscape, leading to a coalescence in physical and visual terms of the 
settlements of Melksham and Berryfield and a consequent impact on their individual 
characteristics. There is nothing in the emerging Wiltshire Core Strategy that would point to 
a more favourable consideration of the development of this site compared to others around 
Melksham, and there are no overriding reasons justifying the grant of planning permission. 
Whilst land needs to be identified in Melksham for housing growth in the latter part of the 
plan period to meet the requirements of the emerging Core Strategy, this should be done 
through a properly planned process, as required by Policy CP2, enabling the merits of 
different sites to be considered and the community to be engaged. A decision can then be 
made on whether the adverse impacts identified here should be accepted if the site is 
identified through the plan process as one of the most sustainable. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Refuse, for the following reasons; 

1. The site is located in open countryside outside the Town Policy Limits defined 
for Melksham in the West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 and carried 
forward into the emerging Wiltshire Core Strategy. It lies outside the Village 
Policy Limits identified for Berryfield in the West Wiltshire District Plan 1st 
Alteration 2004 and outside the existing built area of the ‘small village’ the 
settlement is defined as in Core Policies 2 and 15 of the emerging Wiltshire 
Core Strategy (where development is limited to infill only). The proposal would 
therefore conflict with Policies H1, H17 and H19 of the West Wiltshire District 
Plan and Core Policy 2 of the emerging Core Strategy 2014. 

2. The site is located in an area of open countryside that plays an important role 
in the landscape of physically and visually separating the settlements of 
Melksham and Berryfield. The siting and construction of the proposed 
development would fail to respect this important function resulting in a 
detrimental and unacceptable change in landscape character urbanising the 
area between the settlements of Melksham and Berryfield and resulting in their 
physical and visual coalescence. The proposal would therefore conflict with 

Page 38



Policy C1 of the West Wiltshire District Plan (1st Alteration) and policies CP1, 
CP15 and CP51 of the emerging Wiltshire Core Strategy 2014. 

3. The proposal conflicts with the Delivery Strategy set out in Policy CP2 of the 
emerging Wiltshire Core strategy, which seeks to properly plan for sustainable 
development of housing sites in Wiltshire to deliver the identified needs in the 
Community Areas through a Site Allocations DPD and/or a Neighbourhood 
Plan, a strategy supported by both the Wiltshire Core Strategy Inspector, and 
the Secretary of State in his appeal decision at Park Lane, Malmesbury. The 
site has not been brought forward through this process and the adverse 
impacts identified in reasons 1 and 2 above reinforce the need for the delivery 
strategy required by policy CP 2 as the properly planned method of 
establishing the most sustainable sites for meeting the housing needs of 
Melksham.  

 

 

 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 42


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 14/07526/OUT - Land East of Semington Road, Melksham, SN12 6DP - Erection of up to 150 dwellings with access, new village hall and areas of open space
	14 07526 Location plan


